

Screening of pea varieties of Sweden

- for physical, chemical & functional properties

Stina Gustafsson

Master thesis in Food Science • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Department of Molecular Sciences Agricultural Programme – Food Science Molecular Sciences, 2022:51 Uppsala, 2022

Screening of pea varieties of Sweden - for physical, chemical & functional properties.

Undersökning av svenska ärtsorter och deras fysikaliska, kemiska och funktionella egenskaper

Stina Gustafsson

Supervisor:	Santanu Basu, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, department of Molecular Sciences
Assistant supervisor:	Roger Andersson, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, department of Molecular Sciences
Examiner:	Annica Andersson, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, department of Molecular Sciences

Credits:	30 credits
Level:	Second cycle, A2E
Course title:	Master thesis in Food science
Course code:	EX0877
Programme/education:	Agricultural Programme – Food Science
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Molecular Sciences
Place of publication:	Uppsala
Year of publication:	2022
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner.
Title of series:	Molecular Sciences
Part number:	2022:51

Keywords:

Pisum Sativum L., pea, physical properties, chemical properties, functional properties

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Molecular Sciences

Abstract

There is a need for improved resource efficiency in the food chain, while still producing nutritious foods with a low environmental impact. A crop with a favourable nutritional profile, while being well suited for cultivation in Swedish environmental condition is the field pea (*Pisum Sativum L.*). The purpose of this study was to provide information about the genetic and environmental effect on the physical, chemical and functional properties of peas.

Physical, chemical and functional properties were analysed of pea seeds of three different varieties cultivated at three different years. Moreover, an additional pea variety was studied, with samples being provided from one year only. Pasting properties, oil absorption capacity, water absorption capacity and starch content were also analysed for some pea flour fractions. Additionally, scanning electron microscopy were performed on a few whole flour samples as well as the flour fractions of selected varieties.

The results showed differences between varieties as well as by cultivation years in several of the different variables studied. For instance, there was a significant difference in the average size of seed between years as well as between varieties. The analyses of the pea flour fractions showed differences in composition and functional properties compared to the whole pea flour, although these results need to be confirmed in further studies with more samples. In conclusion, variety and year appear to affect the physical, functional and chemical properties of peas. However, the results need to be confirmed by further studies including more samples and preferably, also considering effects of different environments and storage.

Keywords: Pisum Sativum L., pea, physical properties, chemical properties, functional properties

Sammanfattning

Det finns ett behov av förbättrad resurseffektivitet i livsmedelskedjan, samtidigt som det krävs fokus på produktion av näringsrika livsmedel med låg miljöpåverkan. En gröda med gynnsam näringsprofil samtidigt som den lämpar sig väl för odling i svenskt miljötillstånd är ärtan (*Pisum Sativum L.*). Syftet med denna studie var att ge information om de genetiska och miljömässiga effekterna på ärtornas fysikaliska, kemiska och funktionella egenskaper.

Fysikaliska, kemiska och funktionella egenskaper analyserades hos ärtor av tre olika sorter från tre olika odlings-år. Dessutom studerades ytterligare en ärtsort, som endast var tillgänglig från ett odlings-år. Funktionella egenskaper och stärkelsehalt analyserades också för några ärtmjölsfraktioner. Dessutom utfördes svepelektronmikoskopi på ett fåtal mjölprover såväl som mjölfraktionerna från utvalda sorter.

Resultaten visade att genetiska och miljömässiga faktorer påverkade flera av de analyserade egenskaperna. Signifikant skillnad i storlek mellan sorter samt år kunde till exempel visas. Analyserna av ärtmjölsfraktionerna visade skillnader i sammansättning och funktionella egenskaper jämfört med hela ärtmjölet, även om dessa resultat måste bekräftas i ytterligare studier med ett större antal prov. Sammanfattningsvis påverkar sort och odlings-år de fysikaliska, funktionella och kemiska egenskaperna hos ärter. Resultaten behöver dock bekräftas genom ytterligare studier inklusive fler prover och helst även med hänsyn till effekter av olika miljöer och lagring.

Nyckelord: Pisum Sativum L., ärta, fysikaliska egenskaper, kemiska egenskaper, funktionella egenskaper

Table of contents

Abbr	eviations	8
1.	Introduction	.10
1.1	Aim and objective	. 10
1.2	Delimitations	.11
2.	Background	.12
2.1	Pea	.12
	2.1.1 History	.12
	2.1.2 Production	.13
	2.1.3 Seed anatomy & composition	.13
	2.1.4 Pea flour composition and functional properties	.14
	2.1.5 Extraction of pea components	.14
2.2	Environmental and genetic effects on dry pea composition	.15
3.	Method and material	.16
3.1	Literature review	.16
3.2	Material	. 16
3.3	Physical properties of the seeds	. 18
	3.3.1 Average size of seed & 100 grain weight	. 18
	3.3.2 Bulk density, true density & porosity	. 18
3.4	Milling & particle size analysis	.19
3.5	Microstructural study of the WPF & PFF	. 19
3.6	Functional properties of the WPF & PFF	.19
	3.6.1 WAC & OAC	.19
	3.6.2 Pasting properties by rapid visco analyzer (RVA)	.20
3.7	Chemical properties of the WPF & PFF	.20
	3.7.1 Starch content	.20
	3.7.2 Dietary fibre analysis	.20
3.8	Statistical analysis	.21
4.	Results & Discussion	.22
4.1	Physical properties of the pea seeds	.22
	4.1.1 Average size of seed & 100 grain weight	.22
	4.1.2 Bulk density, true density & porosity	.25
4.2	Particle size analysis	.26

4.3	Microstructural study of the WPF & PFF	.27					
4.4	Functional properties of the WPF	. 29					
	4.4.1 OAC & WAC	. 29					
	4.4.2 Pasting properties by RVA	. 30					
4.5	Chemical properties of the WPF	. 33					
	4.5.1 Starch content	. 33					
	4.5.2 Dietary fibre analysis	. 34					
4.6	PCA of WPF	. 35					
4.7	Functional properties of PFF	. 37					
	4.7.1 OAC & WAC	. 37					
	4.7.2 Pasting properties by RVA	. 38					
4.8	Chemical properties of the PFF	. 39					
	4.8.1 Starch content	. 39					
4.9	PCA of the PFF	.40					
5.	Conclusion	.42					
Refer	ences	.43					
Popu	lar science summary	.46					
Арре	Appendix 1 – SEM-images47						
Арре	Appendix 2 – Pasting curves49						
Appe	ndix 3 – Parameters analysed	.51					

Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ara	Arabinose
В	Breakdown
BD	Bulk Density
cP	Centipoise
FV	Final Viscosity
gal	Galactose
glc	Glucose
HGW	100 Grain Weight
HS	Holding Strength
KL	Klason Ligning
L	Length
man	Mannose
OAC	Oil Absorption Capacity
Р	Porosity
PCA	Principle Component Analysis
PeakT	Peak Time
PFF	Pea Flour Fractions
Ptemp	Pasting Temperature
PV	Peak Viscosity
rha	Rhamnose
RVA	Rapid Visco Analyser
RVU	Rapid Viscosity Units
S	Sphericity
S	Setback
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
Т	Thickness
TD	True Density
TDF	Total Dietary Fibre

UA	Uronic Acids
V	Volume
W	Width
WAC	Water Absorption Capacity
WPF	Whole Pea Flour
xyl	Xylose

1. Introduction

A growing world population, with a growing demand for nutritious food stuff, is continuously increasing the pressing need of having an efficient and sustainable food chain. Currently, our food systems need to become more resource efficient to meet the growing demand for food products while simultaneously reducing the environmental impact. Further, these changes need to be made while also keeping the food value chain economically and socially sustainable.

To improve resource efficiency in the food chain, from a Swedish perspective, there is a need for resource efficient production and processing of crops with a favourable nutritional profile, that also are suitable for the Swedish environment. A good alternative for such a crop is the field pea which has been cultivated in the Nordic region for a long time, probably since the bronze age (Kirleis 2019). The field pea has a cold tolerance during the growth and germination period, making it a common and favourable alternative protein crop in cooler climates, as compared to, for instance, soybean (Lu et al. 2020). Further, there has been an increase in the demand for protein from peas, along with the interest for plant-based alternatives to meat. Especially in relation to the discussion of the environmental impacts of soybean production (Martinez & Boukid 2021). The field pea has a favourable nutritional composition, high in protein, starch and dietary fibre (Mondor 2020), making it a perfect candidate as a nutritious food source that is well suited for production in the cooler climate of Sweden.

This project is part of a collaboration between Lantmännen and researchers at the Swedish University of Agriculture (SLU) and Chalmers University, called 100% PEA. This project aims to upgrade the Swedish value chain for pea production, through a highly efficient pea biorefinery. To accomplish this, it is necessary to screen the Swedish pea varieties to determine which are the most suitable to cultivate for starch, protein and dietary fibre extraction. Additionally, information about the effect on field peas by different environmental conditions and storage is valuable.

1.1 Aim and objective

The aim of this project was to study and give an overview of some physical, chemical and functional properties of different pea varieties of Sweden, cultivated

in different years. Furthermore, the aim was to include information of chemical and functional properties of pea flour fractions. Thus, the purpose was to provide information about the genetic and environmental effect on the physical (average size, 100 grain weight, bulk density, true density, porosity and particle size), chemical (dietary fibre and starch content) and functional properties (water and oil absorption capacity as well as pasting properties) of peas. This could provide information helpful in determining suitable Swedish pea varieties to include in a future highly efficient pea biorefinery.

1.2 Delimitations

The study was limited to include four field pea varieties, cultivated in three years, from 2018 to 2020. These varieties were chosen by Lantmännen. However, one of the varieties were obtained from only one cultivation year (see section 3.2). Therefore, the ability to conduct detailed statistical calculations for all varieties became limited. The chemical properties were limited to include only dietary fibre composition and starch content. Furthermore, the samples were grown in the same location, thus excluding the effect of cultivation site on the different pea varieties. Moreover, fractions were obtained and analysed from only two different pea samples (see section 3.2), due to lack of time. Therefore, it was not possible to conduct statistical analyses on the obtained results from the flour fractions.

2. Background

2.1 Pea

2.1.1 History

Throughout the world legumes, dicotyledon seeds belonging to plants of the Leguminosae family (Ratnayake et al. 2001), are an important part of the diet. They are a great source of nutrients as they are high in protein, starch and dietary fibre (Nikolopoulou et al. 2007). The field pea is one of the major legumes and one of the most widespread legume crops in the world, especially in temperate regions (Ljuština & Miki 2010).

Peas, along with other European legumes such as chickpeas and lentils, originate from the Near Eastern centre of diversity, or centre of origin. Mediterranean and African centres of diversity are considered secondary centres of origin (Ljuština & Miki 2010). The Near Eastern region still has many wild taxa of pea in its flora, such as red-yellow pea (*Pisum fulvum* Sm.) (Ljuština & Miki 2010). There are three signs of domestication of legumes that are regularly used, non-dehiscent pods, smoothness of seeds and seed size (Tanno & Willcox 2006). However, these signs are difficult to interpret and do not always survive archeologically, therefore, there is not much information on the early stages of pulse domestication (Ljuština & Miki 2010). Peas are, however, considered one of the founder crops of Old World Neolithic agriculture (Zohary & Hopf 1973).

In Sweden peas have also been grown for a long time. They are probably, along with cereals such as wheat and barley, one of the crops that have been cultivated for the longest time in this area (Leino & Nygårds, 2008). Although it is not the case anymore, up until the 19th century, mainly Swedish landrace peas that were adapted to the local environment were used. Some examples of yellow pea varieties are Östgötaärt, Skånsk gulärt and Upplandsärt (Leino & Nygårds, 2008).

2.1.2 Production

The total production of dry peas in the world was approximately 14 600 000 metric tonnes in 2020 (FAO, 2022). There are several potential uses for the field pea, including green vegetables that are either fresh or frozen, it could be used fresh for grazing animals as well as being further treated to serve as hay or silage. Additionally, it is commonly produced for the mature seed, which has several uses for feed as well as food production (French 2016).

According to the Swedish Board of Agriculture (2021a) dry peas are the most predominantly produced legumes in Sweden. Approximately 72 800 metric tonnes were harvested in Sweden in 2021, compared to the second largest legume in Sweden, the field bean, with a total harvest of 58 400 metric tonnes in 2021 (Swedish Board of Agriculture 2021a). In 2021, the area of production of the category dry pea, field bean, etc. was 44 181 hectares, of which the dry pea cultivation constituted 52% (Swedish Board of Agriculture 2021b). As seen in table 1 below, showing the production of pea seeds of different Swedish varieties and their usage, most of the produced peas are used as animal feed. Ingrid is the variety with the highest production with 4947 metric tonnes in 2020, followed by Bagoo and Eso with 4800 and 2442 metric tonnes respectively. The food production of peas is substantially smaller, where the variety that is produced for this purpose, to the largest extent is Clara with 340 metric tonnes produced in 2020.

Table 1. Production, in tons, and application of Swedish pea varieties in 2020 (Data obtained from Lantmännen 2021)

Variety	Clara	Rokka	Ingrid	Rocket	Balder &	Nitouche	Eso	Bruno	Bagoo	Alvesta
					Greenway					
Production	340	6	4847	101	14	24	2442	1100	4800	92
(tons)										
Application	Fe	bod	Feed							

2.1.3 Seed anatomy & composition

The pea core contains two embryonic leaves (defining it as di-cotyledonous) that makes up the spherical shape of the seed. Moreover, it has an outer layer called the testa, also known as the hull. The two cotyledons are the storage units of the pea, containing protein bodies and starch granules, that lie within the storage tissues. Protein bodies of the field pea have a diameter of approximately 1-3 μ m (Möller et al. 2021a). Starch granules of pea cells range in size between 2 and 40 μ m, with a round or oval shape (Ratnayake et al. 2001). Further, they generally divide in to two types of granules, large oval granules with a size of 23-30 μ m and smaller granules that are either oval or spherical with a size of 5-20 μ m. The starch granules exist in the pea cell embedded in a matrix of protein bodies (Pernollet 1978).

2.1.4 Pea flour composition and functional properties

The composition of the field pea varies based on variety, growing conditions and year of cultivation. However, it is generally reported in the ranges of 33-52% for starch, 22-32% for protein, 19-31% for fibre and 0.4-4% for fat (Mondor 2020). The starch contains on average 36% amylose, where 9.5% is made up of amylose-lipid complexes (Ratnayake et al. 2002). Pea starch has a high amylose:amylopectin ratio. Furthermore, compared to cereal and tuber starches, there is a large relative amount of short amylose chains (Martinez & Boukid 2021). These characteristics makes pea starches less suitable for uses such as thickening agents in food products. However, they have other potential uses, for example in edible coatings (Martinez & Boukid 2021).

Compared to pea starch, the proteins of peas are more desired for food production, especially in plant based meat alternatives (Martinez & Boukid 2021). Pea proteins are classified in four major groups: globulin, albumin, prolamin and glutelin, where globulin and albumin constitutes about 55-65% and 18-25% respectively, and prolamin and glutelin constitutes only minor amounts (Lu et al. 2020). Pea proteins have good functional properties that lends them favourable to use in meat substitutes. Furthermore, there are opportunities in improving the functional properties through chemical and enzymatic modifications (Ge et al. 2020).

Dietary fibre has been defined chemically as the sum of non-starch polysaccharide residues, amylase-resistant starch and Klason lignin (Theander et al. 1995). Pulse cotyledons are the main source of soluble fibre in pulses, mainly consisting of arabinose residues and galacturonic acid rich pectins. The hulls are the primary source of insoluble fibre in pulses, mainly consisting of cellulose, xylans and arabinans (Brummer et al. 2015).

2.1.5 Extraction of pea components

There are several fractionation processes, wet and dry, available that are possible alternatives for purifying the main components of field peas, namely starch, protein and dietary fibre. However, wet fractionation results in purer protein fractions with higher yield (Möller et al. 2022). Different wet fractionation processes include alkaline extraction followed by isoelectric precipitation (AE/IEP), salt extraction (SE), micellar precipitation (MP) and mild wet fractionation (Lam et al. 2018; Möller et al. 2022).

2.2 Environmental and genetic effects on dry pea composition

The composition of field peas varies based on several factors, including variety, environmental factors and storage. The impact of environment and variety on the composition of peas have been studied and reviewed (Black et al. 1998; Nikolopoulou et al. 2007; Lam et al. 2018; Mohammed et al. 2018; Daba & Morris 2022).

Mohammed et al. (2018) studied the proximate composition of six dry pea varieties in a randomized block design with four replications in a total of 22 environments. The authors found that differences in environmental means were larger compared to variety means. Further, they found significant environment x variety effects on protein, starch and ash concentrations.

Three different pea varieties, grown in three locations over two subsequent years were evaluated for chemical composition in a study by Nikolopoulou et al. (2007). The authors found significant effects of cultivation area on the chemical composition. Further, the study also showed effects of the cultivation year on all traits, except for starch, indicating that starch content was less impacted by the climatic conditions.

In a literature review by Daba & Morris (2022), which focused on pea proteins, their variation, composition and genetics, the authors concluded that the regulation of pea proteins is controlled by complex genetic mechanisms and that environmental variation is a major contributor to protein variation in peas. Further, they found that protein content of peas is negatively correlated to the starch content. Therefore, they conclude that it could be problematic breeding for peas with optimal protein and starch content. Moreover, they suggest that the possibility of breeding for protein- and starch-optimized versions separately might be the best course of action while focusing on peas as a functional ingredient of foods.

A literature review by Lam et al. (2018) discussed the effects of environment and variety on pea protein content. The authors mention associations between the environmental factors high temperatures and low rainfall with a higher protein content in peas. Moreover, a negative correlation between protein content and seed yield was found. Furthermore, the authors discuss that pea varieties of interest should be cultivated and tested at different locations over several years to determine the effects of environment on the specific genotype.

A study by Black et al. (1998) studying 61 field peas of different categories, over two seasons showed somewhat contradictory results. The authors found wide variations in the physico-chemical properties of the field peas based on genotypes. However, significant differences based on the cultivation year was not detected in the study, with the exception of dehulling quality.

3. Method and material

3.1 Literature review

A literature review was conducted by using databases such as Primo and Google Scholar. Examples of search words that were used in different combinations are: "Pisum Sativum", "Pea", "Dietary Fibre", "Starch", "Pea varieties", "Environmental Factors".

3.2 Material

Mature dried peas from four different pea varieties, were kindly provided by Lantmännen Lantbruk (Svalöv, Sweden). In three out of the four varieties, samples were provided from three different years, as explained in Table 2 below. Furthermore, information regarding sowing date, location of cultivation, fertilization and treatments, with Fenix and Centium, were also provided by Lantmännen Lantbruk (Svalöv, Sweden) and is presented in Table 3 below.

Variety	Year	Colour	Usage	Code
Ingrid	2018	Yellow	Feed	I18
Ingrid	2019	Yellow	Feed	I19
Ingrid	2020	Yellow	Feed	I20
Clara	2018	Yellow	Food/Feed	C18
Clara	2019	Yellow	Food/Feed	C19
Clara	2020	Yellow	Food/Feed	C20
Balder	2018	Yellow	Feed	B18
Balder	2019	Yellow	Feed	B19
Balder	2020	Yellow	Feed	B20
Rokka	2019	Green	Food	R19

Table 2. Pea varieties, years of harvest as well as type of pea

SD	Year	Location	F1		T1		DT1	T2	DT2
21/4	2018	Banvaktsvången	200	kg	Fenix	0.9	29/4	-	-
			PK*	/ha	L/ha				
13/4	2019	Almdala V	75	kg	2	L/ha	25/4	Basagran 0,6	22/5
			N**/	/ha	Fenix			L/ha; Fenix	
								0,35 L/ha	
7/4	2020	Felestads kyrka	75	kg	Fenix	2	20/4	-	-
			N/ha	l	L/ha;				
					Centiu	m 0,4			
					L/ha				

Table 3. Sowing date (SD), year of cultivation, location of cultivation, fertilization level and type before sowing (F1), treatment levels and type (T1 and T2), and date of first (DT1) and second (DT2) treatments of the pea varieties

*) PK = Phosphor and potassium fertilizer

**) N = Nitrogen fertilizer

The weather data, from the years the pea samples were cultivated, including rainfall, hours of sunshine and average temperature of the months April-September as well as for the entire year are shown in Table 4 below. Weather data recordings were obtained from Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (SMHI) from their observation station in Lund, as the closest available observation station to the site of cultivation.

Time period	Rainfall (mm)			Sunsh	Sunshine (h)			Average temperature (°C)		
	2018	2019	2020	2018	2019	2020	2018	2019	2020	
April	34	10	17	227	298	279	9.7	8.6	8.6	
May	45	39	40	368	219	252	16.4	11.5	11.4	
June	18	66	49	311	307	290	18.8	18.9	18.9	
July	3	45	60	354	256	201	21.5	18.6	16.8	
Aug	91	64	66	216	237	281	19.6	19.0	19.9	
Sept	32	111	53	174	118	192	15.2	14.2	15.2	
Year	477	707	633	2057	1823	1873	10.2	10.1	10.5	

Table 4. Weather data in Lund from 2018-2020 (SMHI 2022). Rainfall (mm), hours of sunshine andaverage temperature (°C) in Lund from 2018-2020 when the pea samples were cultivated

All pea samples were analysed for average size of seed, 100 grain weight (HGW), bulk density, true density and porosity. Moreover, whole pea flour (WPF) from all pea samples were analysed for particle size analysis, water absorption capacity (WAC), oil absorption capacity (OAC), pasting properties by rapid visco analyser (RVA), total dietary fibre and starch content. Furthermore, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) of WPF samples from 2020 (I20, C20 and B20) as well as three pea flour fractions (PFF) of the sizes <50 μ m (PFF50), <150 μ m - 50 μ m (PFF150)

and >1mm – 250 μ m (PFF250) from I20 and C20, were performed. Analysis of WAC, OAC, pasting properties by RVA and starch content were also conducted for PFF50 and PFF150 from I20 and C20. The PFF50 and PFF150 of I20 and C20 was referred to as I20F50 and I20F150 as well as C20F50 and C20F150, respectively. Chemicals used in the analyses were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St Louis, United States).

3.3 Physical properties of the seeds

3.3.1 Average size of seed & 100 grain weight

From each pea sample 100 seeds were randomly picked and measured by a digital vernier calliper with 0.03 mm accuracy (Cocraft, Sweden) to acquire the average length (L), width (W) and thickness (T) of the seeds. Further, the sphericity (S) was calculated according to the equation below (Yalçın et al. 2007). The volume of the peas was also calculated based on L, W and T. Furthermore, an additional 100 seeds were randomly chosen and weighed to acquire the HGW.

$$S = \frac{(LWT)^{1/3}}{L}$$

3.3.2 Bulk density, true density & porosity

The standard test weight procedure (Singh & Goswami 1996) were used to measure the bulk density of the peas. A 500 ml container of known weight was filled with peas at a constant rate from approximately 15 cm height. The contents were then weighed, and the bulk density was calculated from the mass of seeds in relation to the volume of the container.

True density was determined by the water displacement method (Karababa 2006), with some modifications. A 100 ml graduated measuring cylinder was filled with 50 ml of distilled water and 25 g of pea was added. The change in volume was noted and the seed density was calculated as the ratio of the weight of the seeds and the volume change. Moreover, the porosity (P_f) of the seeds were calculated in percentage from the bulk density (P_b) and true density (P_t) (Yalçın et al. 2007) according to the equation described below.

$$Pf = \left(1 - \frac{Pb}{Pt}\right)x \ 100$$

3.4 Milling & particle size analysis

Approximately 250 g seeds from each pea variety were initially ground by a Cemotec[™] 1090 sample mill (Foss, Hillerod, Denmark) as a first step of disintegration. Centrifugal milling with a ZM-200 mill (Retsch, Haan, Germany) was then used to further disintegrate the samples at 18000 rpm. All the samples obtained from Cemotec[™] sample mill were milled in the Retsch mill for achieving finer particle size of flour.

Sieve fractionation was used to analyse the particle size of the flours. An AS 200 Shaker (Retsch, Haan, Germany) equipped with five different sieves (1 mm, 600 μ m, 250 μ m, 150 μ m and 50 μ m) was used. Sieving was conducted for ten minutes, at 1.5 mm/g amplitude, with a ten second interval and three second pause. PFF of two pea samples were saved for further analysis, Clara and Ingrid from the year 2020 (C20 and I20). Fractions saved were <50 μ m, <150 μ m – 50 μ m and >1mm – 250 μ m.

3.5 Microstructural study of the WPF & PFF

SEM images for the WPF (I20, C20 and B20) and PFF50, PFF150 and PFF250 from C20 and I20 were performed using a HITACHI TM-1000 tabletop scanning electron microscope (SEM). The samples were mounted on a SEM stub by carbon tape, subsequently, the samples were coated with gold before the analysis.

3.6 Functional properties of the WPF & PFF

3.6.1 WAC & OAC

WAC of all WPF as well as PFF50 and PFF150 from I20 and C20 were determined by a modified version of the AACC method no. 51-56 as described by Edwards et al. (2020). Three grams of flour were measured in a pre-weighed tube and 15ml of distilled water was added. The tube was then centrifuged for 15 minutes at $1000 \times g$, the excess water was removed at the tube was weighed. The WAC was then calculated as the amount of water absorbed divided by the amount of flour.

OAC of the WPF as well as PFF50 and PFF150 from I20 and C20 were determined according to the method described by Lin et al. (1974) with some modifications. One gram of flour was measured in a pre-weighed centrifugal tube and 10 ml of rapeseed oil (ICA, Solna, Sweden) was added. The tubes were then vortexed every five minutes, for 30 minutes, to ensure proper mixing of the samples. Thereafter, centrifugation was carried out at $3000 \times g$ for 25 minutes. After centrifugation, the oil was discarded, and the tubes were inverted for ten minutes to

drain the excess oil. Finally, the tubes were weighed and the OAC was calculated as the amount of oil absorbed by the amount of flour.

3.6.2 Pasting properties RVA

An RVA (Newport Scientific Works, Warriewood, Australia) was used to measure the pasting properties of the WPF as well as PFF50 and PFF150 from I20 and C20 according to the standard 1 method of the manufacturer. Three grams of pea flour were measured and mixed with 25 ml of distilled water in an aluminium canister. A paddle rotation of 160 rpm was used throughout the experiment, apart from an initial ten s at 960 rpm to properly mix the suspension. The suspension was held at 50°C for 1 min, heated to 95°C and held there for 3.5 min before cooling to 50°C. The program had a total run time of 13 min.

3.7 Chemical properties of the WPF & PFF

The WPF samples, PFF50 and PFF150 from I20 and C20 were analysed for starch content, and the results are reported as average values as percentage of dry matter (DM). The WPF samples were analysed for dietary fibre content and the results are reported as average values as percentage of DM. DM was determined according to the AACC method 44-15A (2000) by drying the samples for 16 h at 105°C.

3.7.1 Starch content

The starch content of the WPF as well as PFF50 and PFF150 from I20 and C20 were analysed according to Åman et al. (1994) with thermostable α -amylase (Megazyme, Ireland). In short, approximately 25 mg of each sample was extracted with 80% ethanol. Thereafter, hydrolysis to glucose was commenced. After completion of the hydrolysis, the starch content was measured by colorimetry.

3.7.2 Dietary fibre analysis

The Uppsala method (AOAC - NMKL methods no. 162, 1998) was used to determine the dietary fibre contents of the WPF. In the Uppsala method, starch is removed through addition of heat stable α -amylase and amyloglucosidase (Megazyme, Ireland) in an acetate buffer. Ethanol (80%) is used to precipitate soluble polysaccharides. Both soluble and insoluble polysaccharides are thereafter hydrolysed with sulphuric acid. Uronic acids are then determined by colorimetry, neutral monosaccharide residues are quantified by gas chromatography and Klason lignin is determined gravimetrically. The total amylase resistant polysaccharides along with Klason lignin are defined as the total dietary fibre content. Further,

fructan and fructooligosaccharides are not included in this analysis since the acid hydrolysis will lead to their breakdown (Theander et al. 1995).

Calculations of the relative cell wall content of sugar residues were conducted based on the results of the dietary fibre analysis. Each sugar unit, including uronic acids, were expressed as a percentage of the total content of sugar residues and uronic acids.

3.8 Statistical analysis

Two statistical techniques were used to analyse the data obtained in the experiments. A principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted, using SIMCA 17 (Sartorius Stedim Data Analytics AB). A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), using Minitab® 19, with Tukey pairwise comparisons was conducted with a significance level of 95% to obtain mean values and significant differences between varieties and years of cultivation. Furthermore, a PCA was conducted on the results of the PFF of I20 and C20, together with the results from their whole flour counterparts.

4. Results & Discussion

4.1 Physical properties of the pea seeds

4.1.1 Average size of seed & 100 grain weight

It was shown in the statistical analysis that the average size of the pea seeds varied significantly depending on the variety (Table 5). However, only samples of the varieties Balder, Ingrid and Clara were included in the ANOVA, since the data of Rokka was only available from one year of cultivation.

The HGW ranged from 21.8 to 29.6 g, with Clara being the lightest and Ingrid being the heaviest. Moreover, the length varied from 7.17 (Clara) to 8.07 mm (Ingrid). Ingrid was significantly longer compared to Clara and Balder, where no statistical difference was detected. The width of the pea varieties varied from 6.52 (Clara) to 7.18 mm (Rokka). Moreover, Clara had a significantly smaller measurement of width compared to Ingrid and Balder. Thickness varied between 5.95 (Clara) and 6.75 mm (Rokka). There was a significant difference between Ingrid, Clara and Balder, where Balder was the widest and Clara was the least wide. Sphericity was calculated based on the length, width and thickness (calculation described in the methods section). Moreover, a value closer to one indicates a rounder shape. The sphericity ranged from 0.87 (Ingrid) to 0.94 (Rokka). A significant difference was shown between Ingrid, Balder and Clara, where Balder was the roundest, followed by Clara, while Ingrid was the least round variety. Volume varied from 147 (Clara) to 195 μ l (Rokka). Clara had a significantly smaller volume compared to Balder and Ingrid.

The variance of size depending on year was also considered. There was a significant difference for the size of the different peas between 2018 and 2020, where peas from 2018 was consistently smaller in all categories, although the shape remained similar.

Table 5. Average size of the pea seeds, values expressed as means by variety and means by year of cultivation. 100 grain weight (HGW), length (L), width (W), thickness (T), volume (V) and sphericity (Sp)

	Variet	y		Year			
Parameter	Ingrid	Clara	Balder	Rokka ¹	2018	2019	2020
HGW (g)	29.6 ^a	21.8 ^c	25.0 ^b	27.8	23.5 ^b	26.2 ^{ab}	26.7ª
L (mm)	8.07 ^a	7.17 ^b	7.36 ^b	7.64	7.28 ^b	7.61 ^{ab}	7.71ª
W (mm)	7.07 ^a	6.52 ^b	6.87 ^a	7.18	6.62 ^b	6.88 ^a	6.95 ^a
T (mm)	6.12 ^b	5.95°	6.30 ^a	6.75	5.95 ^b	6.18 ^a	6.25 ^a
V (µl)	184 ^a	147 ^b	168 ^a	195	151 ^b	171 ^a	177 ^a
Sp	0.87°	0.91 ^b	0.93 ^a	0.94	0.91 ^a	0.90 ^a	0.90 ^a

Values in the same row with different letters represent a significant difference, although, by variety only and year only.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019

A principal component analysis depicts the correlation between loadings (parameters analyzed), pea varieties and year of cultivation. Figure 1 and 2 originates from the PCA and illustrates these correlations. A total of 91.1% of the variance were contributed to the first and second principal component (PC), depicted in the biplot below. PC1 (along the x-axis) explained 59.8% of the variance and PC2 (along the y-axis) explained 31.3% of the variance.

In Figure 1 below a biplot originating from the PCA is shown. Loadings (sphericity, thickness, width, volume and length) are combined with the scores of each individual pea, coloured by variety. Variables further out in the plot has more of a contribution to the variance, thus, it appears as if all the variables are contributing to the variance to a large extent. Variables that are located closely together, further out on the plot, are positively correlated, while variables on the opposite side are negatively correlated. Moreover, variables that are positioned with a 90° angle implies no correlation. Length, width, volume and thickness seems to be the parameters influencing PC1 and were closely related to each other, whereas sphericity, length and thickness appears to be influencing PC2 the most. Furthermore, there seems to be no correlation between volume and sphericity, a positive correlation between width and thickness, a negative correlation between length and sphericity moreover, volume of the seed was strongly linked to seed width. Sphericity appears the least linked with the other dimensional parameters like length, width and thickness.



Figure 1. Biplot, containing loadings (X), in green (round circles) with labels of each variable, as well as scores of each pea, colored by variety. A total of 91.1% of the variance was covered by the first (along the x-axis) and second PC (along the y-axis), depicted in the plot.

The individual scores are overlapping to a large extent. However, it is still possible to see the general patterns of each variety. These patterns appear consistent with the means discussed and presented in Table 5 above. For instance, as seen in Table 5 Clara has lower mean values for length, width, thickness and volume, compared to the other varieties. However, Clara has a rounder shape compared to Ingrid. This pattern can also be observed in Figure 1, where Clara, in blue, is situated further away from the loadings thickness, width, volume and length, compared to the other varieties. However, Clara is situated closer to the sphericity loading compared to Ingrid.

Figure 2 below is a score-plot, also originating from the PCA, where the pea samples are coloured by year and distributed in a scattered manner. Although, the scores are overlapping, it seems as if the scores from 2018 are situated more on the left side, which is further away from the loadings thickness, width, length and volume (as can be observed in Figure 1 above). This is indicating that the pea seeds cultivated in 2018 are smaller compared to 2019 and 2020, which is confirmed by the means presented in table 5.



Figure 2. Scoreplot containing the individual scores of the peas, coloured according to the year of cultivation.

Based on these results it can be shown that Clara was the smallest variety analysed in this study and also round. Ingrid could be considered the largest, with high values for HGW, length, and width, while being low in thickness (Table 5). This disproportion probably also led to Ingrid being the least round variety. Balder mainly resided between Clara and Ingrid in regards of size, except when considering thickness. Further, as mentioned, Balder is rounder in shape compared to Clara and Ingrid. Rokka could also be considered one of the larger varieties, while also having the roundest shape out of the varieties analysed.

Regarding the extreme weather conditions of 2018 (Table 4) with very little rainfall, this could have impacted the growth of the peas. In a study by Tao et. al. (2017), looking at the effects of environment on different green and yellow dry peas, the authors concluded that environmental conditions were the major factor influencing yield of the different pea varieties. Further, the study showed a positive correlation between yield and average seed size. The authors could also see differences in the effects of environmental conditions, such as drought conditions, on different varieties.

4.1.2 Bulk density, true density & porosity

The mean values for bulk density, true density and porosity, by variety as well as year, are presented in Table 6 below. Considering the parameters by variety, bulk density ranged from 0.86 to 0.90 g/cm³ in the pea varieties. ANOVA showed that Balder has a significantly lower bulk density compared to Ingrid, while no statistically significant difference could be detected for Clara. True density ranged from 1.39 to 1.46 g/cm³, with Ingrid, Balder and Rokka showing the same true

density, while Clara showed a higher value. Although, there was no significant difference. Porosity ranged from 35.6 for Ingrid to 39.4% for Clara.

When analysing the parameters by year, there was no statistically significant difference for true density or porosity. However, the ANOVA showed that the bulk density of samples from 2018 was significantly lower compared to 2019 and 2020. This correlates to the results of average size and HGW, where the samples from 2018 were the lightest and smallest group.

Table 6. Functional properties of the pea seeds, values expressed as means by variety and means by year of cultivation. Bulk density (BD), true density (TD) and porosity (P)

	Variety				Year		
Parameter	Ingrid	Clara	Balder	Rokka ¹	2018	2019	2020
BD (g/cm ³)	0.90 ^a	0.89 ^{ab}	0.88 ^b	0.86	0.88 ^b	0.89 ^a	0.89 ^a
TD (g/cm ³)	1.39 ^a	1.46 ^a	1.39 ^a	1.39	1.41ª	1.42 ^a	1.41 ^a
P (%)	35.6 ^b	39.4 ^a	36.7 ^{ab}	37.1	37.8 ^a	37.1ª	36.8ª

Values in the same row with subscript different letters represent a significant difference, although, by variety only and year only.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019 and is not included in the means of the years

4.2 Particle size analysis

The particle size analysis is reported in Table 7 below. There were large discrepancies in the results, especially considering the percentage of particles in the <50 and $<150 \mu m$ fraction, indicating that the method chosen for the analysis could have been improved. Therefore, the distribution of particles in the <50 and $<150 \mu m$ fraction is difficult to discuss since there were contradicting results. However, it is possible to see that, with the milling technique used, most of the particles are smaller than 150 μm , for all the varieties.

55 5							
	Variety				Year		
Particle Size	Ingrid	Clara	Balder	Rokka ¹	2018	2019	2020
<50µm	40.27 ^{ab}	32.64 ^b	42.94 ^a	37.91	34.21 ^b	34.87 ^b	46.76 ^a
<150µm	36.01 ^{ab}	40.83 ^a	31.47 ^b	37.60	37.94 ^{ab}	39.48 ^a	30.88 ^b
<250µm	14.27 ^a	17.20 ^a	15.98ª	15.32	18.2ª	15.93 ^{ab}	13.31 ^b
<600µm	8.55ª	8.25 ^a	8.53 ^a	8.63	8.54 ^a	8.73 ^a	8.06 ^a
<1mm	0.70 ^a	0.85 ^a	0.82 ^a	0.48	0.84 ^a	0.76 ^a	0.78^{a}
>1mm	0.20 ^a	0.22 ^a	0.27 ^a	0.06	0.26 ^a	0.22 ^a	0.21 ^a

Table 7. Particle size distribution of whole pea flours based on varieties as well as years of cultivation, values expressed as means. The particle size distribution is presented as the percentage of flour in each fraction

Values in the same row with different letters represent a significant difference, although, by variety only and year only.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019 and is not included in the means of the years

4.3 Microstructural study of the WPF & PFF

Figure 3 below shows three SEM pictures of the WPF from B20, C20 and I20. The WPF of the different varieties appear to be quite similar. All WPF contain a cluster of what appears to be starch granules based on their size ($<40 \mu$ m) and oval shape (Ratnayake et al. 2002). On the surface of the starch granules smaller structures of irregular shapes resides. They are probably protein bodies based on their placement on the starch granules and their size of about 3 μ m, which correlates to the reported size of protein bodies in pea storage cells (Pernollet 1978). Moreover, all flours also contain particles larger than the supposed starch granules, with a different structure. They contain indentations, rounded holes with a smooth structure, that corresponds to the size of the starch granules. Furthermore, these larger structures, which appears to be made up of several smaller particles that are connected together, correspond to what has been identified as fragments of the intracellular matric (Möller et al. 2021b). Starch granules, protein bodies and fragments of the intracellular matrix are visible in the SEM images in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3. SEM pictures of whole flours from Balder (B20), Ingrid (I20) and Clara (C20) cultivated in year 2020, in magnification x1000. The bar in the lower right corner of the image is 100 μ m for size reference.

In Figure 4 below SEM images of the PFF250 of sample C20 in different magnifications are shown. It becomes apparent that the flour fractions containing only particles $>250 \mu m$ are vastly different compared to the whole pea flour. There is no cluster of starch granules, protein bodies and intracellular matrix to be observed. Instead, the fraction seems to be consisting of large particles with differing geometrical shapes. Further, the surface of the particles contains what seems to be a uniform pattern of several smaller indents and raises. These patterns corresponds to the visual appearance of the pea testa surface during SEM analysis (Stolárik et al. 2015), indicating that what can be observed in the PFF250 of C20 could be fragments of the seed coat. Images of the same fraction from sample I20 were also obtained and showed similar structures (Appendix 1- SEM-images).



Figure 4. SEM-pictures of PFF20 of pea variety Clara harvested in year 2020, in magnifications x150 (a), x500 (b) and x1000 (c). The bar in the lower right corner represents 500 μ m (a), 200 μ m (b) and 100 μ m (c).

Figure 5 shows PFF50 and PFF150 of the flour sample C20 in magnifications x500 and x2000. The PFF50 appear to contain mainly starch granules of varying sizes, in oval and round shapes, protein bodies and cell wall fragments. While the PFF150 also contain these elements, there appears to also be several larger fragments of the pea storage cell, like the fragments also visible in the whole flours. A close-up of what appears to the fragments of a pea storage cell is seen in figure 5 (d). It is possible to distinguish oval and round structures which corresponds to the appearance of starch granules as well as smaller round particles that seems to be protein bodies, which seems to make up the larger particle. Further, in figure 5 (d), the larger particle appears to be surrounded by a sheet-like structure, which could represent the cell wall (Möller et al. 2021b).

In Figure 5 (b) it is possible to observe two the types of starch granules of peas, two oval granules (36.4 μ m and 22.8 μ m) as well as one round granule (14.9 μ m), previously described. Also, a smooth surface of the starch granules can be observed, with no visible pores.



Figure 5. SEM-pictures of PFF50 and PFF150 of pea variety Clara harvested in year 2020, in magnifications x 500 (a and c) and x 2000 (b and d). The bar in the lower right corner represents 200 μ m (a and c) and 30 μ m (b and d).

4.4 Functional properties of the WPF

4.4.1 OAC & WAC

Table 8 shows the WAC and OAC of the WPF, with values expressed as means by variety and year. Based on variety, the WAC ranged from 2.29 (Ingrid and Clara) to 2.57 g/g flour (Rokka). Balder had a significantly higher WAC (2.39 g/g flour) compared to Clara and Ingrid. There was no significant difference detected in OAC between the varieties. Values of OAC ranged from 1.90 (Ingrid) to 1.93 g/g flour (Rokka). WAC and OAC of yellow peas have been reported in a range of 0.8-4.04

(Maninder et al. 2007; Agboola et al. 2010; Ferawati et al. 2019; Young et al. 2020) and 0.9-2.49 g/g flour (Maninder et al. 2007; Agboola et al. 2010; Ferawati et al. 2019). Values reported in this study lies within the reported range.

There were significant, although small, differences shown in WAC between the years. Where samples from 2018 showed the highest WAC (2.36 g/g flour) and 2020 showed the lowest WAC (2.29 g/g flour). Based on these results, differences in WAC of the analysed varieties appears to be affected by both genetic factors as well as possible environmental and storage factors (differences by year). Content of polar amino acid residues, which have an affinity for water, could be influencing the WAC of the different samples. Moreover, carbohydrates and their composition also presents as a possible component influencing the differences in WAC (Sreerama et al. 2012). Whereas, the main factors influencing OAC is interactions with nonpolar groups with the fatty acid carbon chain (Shevkani et al. 2021). Furthermore, WAC and OAC are important indicators for the behavior of samples in food product. OAC indicates the ability to retain lipids, hence, has large influence on the flavor retaining ability of food products. WAC is important for predicting the ability to form viscous solutions, important for products such as soups and gravy (Sreerama et al. 2012).

Table 8. Water absorption capacity (WAC) and oil absorption capacity (OAC) of whole pea flours, values expressed as means by variety as well as means by year of cultivation

	Variety	y			Year		
Parameter	Ingrid	Clara	Balder	Rokka ¹	2018	2019	2020
WAC (g/g flour)	2.29 ^b	2.29 ^b	2.39 ^a	2.57	2.36ª	2.33 ^b	2.29 ^c
OAC (g/g flour)	1.90ª	1.91ª	1.92ª	1.93	1.89 ^a	1.92ª	1.92 ^a

Values in the same row with different letters represent a significant difference, although, by variety only and year only.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019 and is not included in the means of the years

4.4.2 Pasting properties by RVA

Pasting properties of the WPF analysed by RVA is shown in Table 9 below, as well as illustrated in pasting curves in Figure 6 and 7. Means by variety show varying differences in the different pasting parameters, although non-significant. Most notable is the difference in final viscosity (FV) ranging from 56.46 rapid viscosity units (RVU) for Rokka to 83.19 RVU for Balder. Furthermore, FV for field peas have been reported in ranges of 578-4736 centipoise (cP) (Maninder et al. 2007; Chung et al. 2008; Singh et al. 2010; Santos et al. 2019; Young et al. 2020), indicating that the results of the pasting properties of pea flour, from this study, is comparatively low, although within the reported range since 1 RVU equals 12 cP.

(FV), setback (S), peak time (PeakT) and pasting temperature (Ptemp)							
Variety	PV	HS	В	FV	S	PeakT	Ptemp
Ingrid	53.22 ^a	51.03 ^a	2.21ª	76.00^{a}	24.97 ^a	5.88 ^a	78.35 ^a
Clara	50.57 ^a	48.44 ^a	2.13 ^a	66.64 ^a	18.19 ^a	5.59 ^b	78.08^{a}
Balder	55.04 ^a	53.31 ^a	1.74 ^a	83.19 ^a	29.89 ^a	5.98 ^a	77.49 ^a
Rokka ¹	41.92	40.50	1.42	56.46	15.96	5.83	79.05
Year							
2018	56.92ª	55.61ª	1.31ª	81.60 ^a	25.99ª	6.28 ^a	79.74 ^a
2019	55.54 ^a	53.01 ^a	2.53ª	77.96 ^a	24.94 ^a	5.79 ^{ab}	77.77 ^{ab}
2020	46.37 ^a	44.15 ^a	2.24 ^a	66.28 ^a	22.13 ^a	5.38 ^b	76.41 ^b

Table 9. Pasting properties of the WF in RVU, values expressed as means based on variety as well as year of cultivation. Peak viscosity (PV), holding strength (HS), breakdown (B), final viscosity (FV), setback (S), peak time (PeakT) and pasting temperature (Ptemp)

Values in the same column with different letters represent a significant difference, note that this applies by year only and variety only.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019 and is not included in the means by years

Means by year also show variations, where, for instance, whole flour from 2020 showed a lower PV and FV, although non-significant. Furthermore, the statistical analysis showed significant differences in peak time and pasting temperature between samples from 2018 and 2020. Where samples from 2020 showed a lower peak temperature and an earlier peak time. These observations are also illustrated in Figure 6, depicting a pasting curve of the whole flours of variety Clara from the three harvest years. Furthermore, apart from lower viscosity, the samples from 2020 also showed a lower WAC, indicating that differences in functional properties between the WPF cultivated in different years exist. This could be due to environmental factors and the effects of storage.



Figure 6. Pasting curves of three whole pea flours, variety Clara, from year 2018 (C18), 2019 (C19) and 2020 (C20). Curves are mean values of two replicates

Furthermore, when studying the pasting curves of the individual samples from each year which can be seen in Appendix 2 – pasting curves, it becomes apparent that the pasting curve of Ingrid WPF does not follow the same trend as the samples of Clara and Balder. While I20 is still the sample with the lowest viscosity, I18 is lower than I19. This indicates that all pea varieties are not affected by environmental or storage conditions in the same way.

Pasting curves of each variety from the year 2019 is shown in Figure 7. This curve shows that R19 has the lowest FV and PV, while I19 has the highest PV and B19 the highest FV. Furthermore, all pasting curves in Figure 7 follows the typical pasting curve of pea flours, representative of the starch properties of peas. The holding period leads to a low breakdown, indicating the slow granular swelling of pea starch. Moreover, the FV is higher than the PV for all samples, indicating the strong tendencies of pea starch to form strong gels during gelatinization and retrogradation (Martinez & Boukid 2021).



Figure 7. Pasting curves whole pea flours from four different varieties, cultivation year 2019, variety Clara (C19), Ingrid (I19), Balder (B19) and Rokka (R20). Curves are mean values of two replicates

4.5 Chemical properties of the WPF

4.5.1 Starch content

Table 10 shows the starch content presented as means by variety and means by year. There are no significant differences shown in starch content by variety. The starch content varies from 47.7% of dry matter (dm) for Ingrid to 50.0% of dm for Clara. When looking at the average of starch expressed as means by year, the range is smaller, 48.5-48.9% of dm, for 2020 and 2018, respectively. Further, no significant differences are shown between the years. Starch content of peas have been reported in ranges of 33.4-53.6% of dm (Nikolopoulou et al. 2007; Chung et al. 2008; Young et al. 2020). Results reported in this study are within these ranges. Further, in the study by Nikolopoulou et al. (2007) the effect of variety and year on the chemical composition of peas was examined. The authors studied seeds from three white-colored varieties that were grown in three locations for two cultivation years. They found that both location and variety had a significant effect on the proximate composition, however, they could find no effect of cultivation year on starch content.

There does not seem to be a correlation between starch content and pasting parameters. For instance, Clara showed a lower viscosity compared to Balder and Ingrid, while having a higher starch content. This could suggest that the starch content is less relevant for the viscosity parameters compared to the starch composition. Therefore, to study the amylose:amylopectin ratio of the WPF would be interesting, this could possibly help in explaining the differences in pasting properties. Further, more insight into the effect of chemical composition on functional properties could be developed if protein and fat composition of the pea samples were also available.

	Variety	y			Year		
Parameter	Ingrid	Clara	Balder	Rokka ¹	2018	2019	2020
Starch (% dm)	47.7 ^a	50.0 ^a	48.6 ^a	47.7	48.8 ^a	48.9 ^a	48.5 ^a

Table 10. Starch content in the whole pea flours based on variety as well as year of cultivation

Values in the same row with different letters represent a significant difference, although, by variety only and year only.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019 and is not included in the means of the years

4.5.2 Dietary fibre analysis

The main dietary fibre components in all the samples were, in descending order, glucose, arabinose, xylose and uronic acid residues. Only trace amounts of Klason lignin was shown, indicating that it is probably present in the hulls in small amounts. In Table 11 it can be seen that Clara had a significantly lower percentage of arabinose residues compared to Ingrid and Balder, otherwise there were no significant differences shown in the dietary fibre composition of the different pea varieties. Moreover, the total dietary fibre content of the varieties ranged from 12.7-13.2 % of dm.

The content of galactose residues was significantly lower in 2018 compared to 2020, 0.58 and 0.65 % of dm, respectively.

Variety	rha	ara	xyl	man	gal	glc	UA	KL	TDF
Ingrid	0.21 ^a	3.40 ^a	1.19 ^a	0.31 ^a	0.61 ^a	5.85 ^a	1.00^{a}	0.18 ^a	12.7 ^a
Clara	0.21 ^a	2.93 ^b	1.23 ^a	0.29 ^a	0.63 ^a	6.25 ^a	1.01 ^a	0.13 ^a	12.7 ^a
Balder	0.18 ^a	3.46 ^a	1.25 ^a	0.28 ^a	0.59 ^a	6.20 ^a	0.99ª	0.22 ^a	13.2 ^a
Rokka ¹	0.19	3.15	1.27	0.30	0.63	6.03	0.97	0.16	12.5
Year									
2018	0.21 ^a	3.25 ^a	1.21 ^a	0.29 ^a	0.58^{b}	6.09 ^a	0.97 ^a	0.16 ^a	12.6 ^a
2019	0.20 ^a	3.22 ^a	1.19 ^a	0.29 ^a	0.60 ^{ab}	6.06 ^a	1.00 ^a	0.21ª	12.6 ^a
2020	0.19ª	3.32 ^a	1.27ª	0.29 ^a	0.65 ^a	6.14 ^a	1.03ª	0.16 ^a	12.9 ^a

Table 11. Sugar residues*, uronic acids, Klason lignin and total dietary fibre content presented in % of dm in the whole pea flours, values expressed as means by variety as well as means by year

*) Rhamnose (rha), arabinose (ara), xylose (xyl), mannose (man), galactose (gal), glucose (glc), uronic acids (UA), Klason lignin (KL) and total dietary fibre (TDF).

Values in the same column with different letters represent a significant difference, although, by year only and by variety only.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019 and is not included in the means of the years

The relative cell wall composition is presented in Table 12. Relative rhamnose, mannose, uronic acids and xylose residues still showed no significant difference

between varieties. However, the two major components, relative glucose residues, most likely corresponding to cellulose content, and arabinose residues, most likely corresponding to hemicellulose and pectic content, showed significant differences between the varieties. Clara had a lower relative arabinose residue content compared to Ingrid and Balder, while simultaneously showing a significantly higher relative glucose residue content compared to the other varieties. Indicating that cellulose and arabinose residues could be negatively correlated. Moreover, Clara also showed a significantly higher galactose residue content compared to Balder. Moreover, there were no differences shown in the relative cell wall composition by years compared to the dietary fibre content presented above in table 11.

Table 12. Relative cell wall composition of the whole pea flours, values expressed as means by variety as well as means by year, presented as a percentage of the total relative cell wall composition. Rrha (relative rhamnose), Rara (relative arabinose), Rxyl (relative xylose), Rman (relative mannose), Rgal (relative galactose), Rglc (relative glucose) and RUA (relative uronic acids)

Variety	Rrha	Rara	Rxyl	Rman	Rgal	Rglc	RUA
Ingrid	1.7 ^a	27.0 ^a	9.5 ^a	2.4 ^a	4.8 ^{ab}	46.6 ^b	8.0 ^a
Clara	1.7 ^a	23.4 ^b	9.8 ^a	2.3 ^a	5.0 ^a	49.8 ^a	8.1 ^a
Balder	1.4 ^a	26.7ª	9.6 ^a	2.1ª	4.6 ^b	47.9 ^b	7.6 ^a
Rokka ¹	1.5	25.1	10.1	2.4	5.0	48.1	7.7
Year							
2018	1.6 ^a	25.8ª	9.6 ^a	2.3ª	4.6 ^b	48.3 ^a	7.7 ^a
2019	1.6 ^a	25.6 ^a	9.5 ^a	2.3ª	4.8 ^{ab}	48.3 ^a	7.9 ^a
2020	1.5ª	25.7ª	9.8 ^a	2.2ª	5.1ª	47.7 ^a	8.0 ^a

Values in the same column with different letters represent a significant difference.

¹Data of Rokka was only available from 2019 and is not included in the means of the years

4.6 PCA of WPF

The biplot originating from the PCA is shown in Figure 8 below. All variables analysed for the WPF (loadings) are shown in light blue together with the scores of the individual whole flour samples, coloured by variety. A total of 50.2% of the variance were attributed to the first two principal components, where 26.9% and 23.3% were attributed to PC1 and PC2, respectively.



Figure 8. A biplot containing the loading, coloured in light blue, as well as the scores of the individual samples, coloured by variety and labelled with year (18 = 2018, 19 = 2019 and 20 = 2020). A total of 50.2% of the variation is attributed to the two first principal components shown in the biplot. Abbreviations of parameters analysed are explained in appendix 3

Results from the PCA show a difference between the different pea varieties. For instance, samples of Clara are leaning farther towards the left of the plot, demonstrating the higher values of starch content as well as relative glucose residues in the relative cell wall composition. Samples of Balder and Ingrid are closer together, although Balder samples are generally located more toward the upper part of the plot, where most of the pasting parameters are located. This indicates that Balder differentiates from Ingrid mainly by the higher values from the rapid visco analysis.

Further, the differentiation by cultivation year also can also be seen. While the samples are grouping by variety, they do so in a quite uniform matter. Where samples from cultivation year 2020 are located below samples from cultivation year 2019, which, in turn, is located below samples from cultivation year 2018. Values of average size, WAC, galactose residues in the dietary fibre content and pasting parameters were the main variables that differed when comparing means by year. Moreover, the PCA biplot appears to show these differences since galactose residues is in the bottom of the plot (values were lower for means of samples from 2018) and the pasting parameters are located at the top (values higher for means of samples from 2018).

Based on the PCA it seems that the differences are influenced by variety, genetic factors, and by year of cultivation, environmental conditions and storage conditions. It appears as if though Ingrid, Balder and Rokka are more similar, Clara stands out a bit more from the rest. Moreover, it appears as if the main factors

influencing the differentiation are pasting parameters, average size, starch content, porosity and relative glucose, galactose and arabinose residues.

4.7 Functional properties of PFF

4.7.1 OAC & WAC

Figure 9 shows the WAC and OAC from PFF50 and PFF150 of I20 and C20 and their WPF counterparts. The WAC and OAC of the smallest fraction were lower than that of the whole flour for both I20 and C20. However, for the PFF150, there was a slight decrease in WAC compared to the whole flour, while the OAC was higher in the fractions. A similar initial increase in OAC with particle size reduction, followed by a decrease for the finest fractions has also been reported by Ahmed et al. (2016), while studying Indian and Turkish lentil flours. Further, a non-significant decrease in WAC has also been observed in Indian grass pea varieties in a study by (Bala et al. 2020).

Differences in the functional properties of different PFF compared to WPF could be explained by the differences in composition, shown in the SEM images. Cellular distribution of components such as fat, protein and starch, combined with further differentiation of these components by sieve fractionation, could change the functional properties.

As cell wall fragments, containing a large portion of the dietary fiber, where only visible in PFF250, it can be assumed that the smaller fractions contain less dietary fiber. Additionally, more independent starch granules were observed in the PFF50 compared to the WPF and PFF150, indicating a higher starch content.



Figure 9. Water absorption capacity (WAC) and oil absorption capacity (OAC) of pea flour fractions (PFF) as well as the whole pea flour (WPF) of I20 and C20

4.7.2 Pasting properties by RVA

The pasting properties of PFF50 and PFF150 of samples I20 and C20 compared to the whole flours were also investigated. The results of the pasting properties are shown in table 13 as well as illustrated by pasting curve in figure 10. Comparing the pasting curves of PFF150 to their original WPF showed very similar results, as illustrated in figure 10. However, when comparing the smallest fractions to their WPF counterpart, there were clear differences. Where, for instance, the pasting temperature decreased, while the peak viscosity, holding strength, final viscosity and setback increased. Results showing a negative correlation between particle size and peak and final viscosity has been shown in hammer-milled yellow split peas by Kaiser et al. (2019). Where the authors discussed how the effect of decreased particle size leads to an increased exposure of starch to water as a possible explanation. Which could help in explaining the results of this study. Furthermore, as mentioned, the differences in composition shown in the SEM images, could also explain the different pasting properties of PFF50 compared to the original WPF. Based on these results it can be hypothesized that sieving, a relatively simple production step with low energy demand, is enough to change the functional properties of a pea flour. Perhaps leading to increased possibilities for uses of pea flour in the industry. Moreover, sieving could possibly be used in obtaining optimized fractions for further extraction of chemical components.

Table 13. Pasting properties of pea flour fractions as well as their whole flour (WF) counterpart. Peak viscosity (PV), holding strength (HS), breakdown (B), final viscosity (FV), setback (S), peak time (PeakT) and pasting temperature (Ptemp)

Sample	Flour fraction	PV	HS	В	FV	S	PeakT	Ptemp
I20	WF	48.25	46.63	1.67	69.38	22.75	5.70	77.20
I20	<50 μm	66.42	64.92	1.50	100.38	35.46	5.60	75.50
I20	$<150-50\ \mu m$	49.13	46.71	2.42	69.92	23.21	5.70	76.33
C20	WF	40.08	37.67	2.42	51.79	14.13	5.13	76.58
C20	<50 μm	61.46	58.08	3.38	85.46	27.38	5.10	75.90
C20	$(150-50 \ \mu m)$	40.13	36.88	3.25	50.83	13.96	4.63	76.63



Figure 10. Pasting curve of the two flour fractions of I20 (I20F50 and I20F150) as well as the whole flour (I20)

4.8 Chemical properties of the PFF

4.8.1 Starch content

Compared to the WPF, the PFF50 had a higher starch content (Table 14), which is correlated by the SEM-images shown earlier, whereas PFF150 had a lower starch content compared to the WPF. These results further support the earlier discussed thesis that sieving is a relatively simple measure for changing the chemical as well as functional properties of a pea flour. However, to confirm this hypothesis, further

studies need to be conducted, including more samples and preferably more compositional analyses.

Sample	Flour fractions	Starch (% dm)
I20	WPF	47.24
I20	PFF50	53.99
I20	PFF150	45.13
C20	WPF	49.94
C20	PFF50	56.11
C20	PFF150	44.77

Table 14. Starch content of pea flour fractions (PFF) as well as whole flour (WPF)

4.9 PCA of the PFF

Figure 11 shows a loading plot originating from a PCA of PFF50 and PFF150 of I20 and C20, which also included the respective WPF. A total of 88.3% of the variance were attributed to the two principal components. Where 69 and 19.3% of the variance were attributed to PC1 and PC2, respectively.



Figure 11. Loading plot of variables studied for the two flour fractions of I20 and C20. A total of 88.3% of the variation is attributed to PC1 and PC2 in the loading plot. Abbreviations of parameters analysed are explained in appendix 3

The scores are shown in Figure 12, coloured by variety, indicating a difference between the two varieties. The WPF as well as two PFF of Clara are located in the upper part of the score plot, while the Ingrid WPF and PFF are located in the lower part. Moreover, the PFF50 differs in a similar manner for both varieties and are

located more to the left of the score plot indicating the higher starch content and pasting properties. Moreover, the PFF150 appear to have similar properties compared to their WPF counter parts, while being located slightly more to the right of the plot. This indicates a higher WAC and OAC of the PFF150 compared to the WPF. The PCA further confirms that the relatively simple process of sieving WPF is enough to alter the functional and chemical properties. Although, the major differences, in this case, was seen for the PFF50.



Figure 13. Score plot of flour fractions (F50 and F150) of Ingrid (blue) and Clara (green) as well as their whole flour counterparts (I20 and C20)

5. Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to provide information about the genetic and environmental effect on the physical, chemical and functional properties of peas. However, since one of the varieties was only available from one year, the ability to conduct detailed statistical calculations for all varieties became limited. Although, interesting conclusions could still be drawn from the rest of the results.

Several physical, chemical and functional properties do vary, between varieties as well as between years. Average size, for instance, was clearly impacted by the very dry conditions of 2018, while also being strongly tied to the genotype of the varieties. These variations will probably affect processing steps such as dehulling.

The PCA visualised the variations clearly by grouping of the samples by variety. Further, there was also a clear pattern in the way the years spread out. It appeared as if though Ingrid, Balder and Rokka were more similar, while Clara appeared to stand out from the rest, with a higher starch content and cellulosic content in the cell wall composition. The interesting variations by year, mainly WAC and pasting properties, could be starting points for further studies of how storage might affect the pea matrix, and, in turn, the functional properties of the WPF. Further, based on the PCA, it appeared as if the main factors influencing the differentiation are pasting parameters, average size, starch content, porosity and relative content of glucose, galactose and arabinose residues.

Based on the results of the flour fractions, there are positive indications showing that the relatively simple process of sieving could be enough to alter the chemical and functional properties of pea flour. Therefore, it could help in achieving optimized fractions for protein, starch or dietary fibre extraction.

The effect of average size and size distribution related to the dehulling process should be further studied to help implement optimal processing conditions of specific pea varieties. It is also recommended to continue research on the effect of storage related to the composition and functional properties of peas. A factor which was excluded from this research was the effect of site of cultivation, since all pea samples were grown in the same location. Further studies, also considering cultivation site, could help give a broader perspective on factors influencing physical, chemical and functional properties of peas.

References

- AACC method 44-15A. (2000). Approved methods of the AACC, 10th ed., American Association of Cereal Chemists, St Paul Minnesota.
- AOAC-NMKL Method, No. 162. (1998). Total dietary fibre. Gas chromatographic, colorimetric and gravimetric determination in foods- Uppsala Method.
- Agboola, S.O., Mofolasayo, O.A., Watts, B.M. & Aluko, R.E. (2010). Functional properties of yellow field pea (Pisum sativum L.) seed flours and the in vitro bioactive properties of their polyphenols. *Food Research International*, 43 (2), 582–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2009.07.013
- Ahmed, J., Taher, A., Mulla, M.Z., Al-Hazza, A. & Luciano, G. (2016). Effect of sieve particle size on functional, thermal, rheological and pasting properties of Indian and Turkish lentil flour. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 186, 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2016.04.008
- Bala, M., Handa, S., D, M. & Singh, R.K. (2020). Physicochemical, functional and rheological properties of grass pea (Lathyrus sativus L.) flour as influenced by particle size. *Heliyon*, 6 (11), e05471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05471
- Black, R.G., Brouwer, J.B., Meares, C. & Iyer, L. (1998). Variation in physico-chemical properties of field peas (Pisum sativum). *Food Research International*, 31 (2), 81– 86. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(98)00057-X
- Brummer, Y., Kaviani, M. & Tosh, S.M. (2015). Structural and functional characteristics of dietary fibre in beans, lentils, peas and chickpeas. *Food Research International*, 67, 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.11.009
- Chung, H.-J., Liu, Q., Hoover, R., Warkentin, T.D. & Vandenberg, B. (2008). In vitro starch digestibility, expected glycemic index, and thermal and pasting properties of flours from pea, lentil and chickpea varieties. *Food Chemistry*, 111 (2), 316–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.03.062
- Daba, S.D. & Morris, C.F. (2022). Pea proteins: Variation, composition, genetics, and functional properties. *Cereal Chemistry*, 99 (1), 8–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/cche.10439
- Edwards, C.H., Ryden, P., Pinto, A.M., van der Schoot, A., Stocchi, C., Perez-Moral, N., Butterworth, P.J., Bajka, B., Berry, S.E., Hill, S.E. & Ellis, P.R. (2020). Chemical, physical and glycaemic characterisation of PulseON®: A novel legume cellpowder ingredient for use in the design of functional foods. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 68, 103918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2020.103918
- Ferawati, F., Hefni, M. & Witthöft, C. (2019). Flours from Swedish pulses: Effects of treatment on functional properties and nutrient content. *Food Science & Nutrition*, 7 (12), 4116–4126. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.1280
- French, R.J. (2016). Field Pea: Agronomy. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394437-5.00196-0
- Ge, J., Sun, C.-X., Corke, H., Gul, K., Gan, R.-Y. & Fang, Y. (2020). The health benefits, functional properties, modifications, and applications of pea (Pisum sativum L.) protein: Current status, challenges, and perspectives. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 19 (4), 1835–1876. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12573

- Kaiser, A.C., Barber, N., Manthey, F. & Hall III, C. (2019). Physicochemical properties of hammer-milled yellow split pea (Pisum Sativum L.). *Cereal Chemistry*, 96 (2), 313–323. https://doi.org/10.1002/cche.10127
- Karababa, E. (2006). Physical properties of popcorn kernels. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 72 (1), 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2004.11.028
- Kirleis, W. (2019). Atlas of Neolithic plant remains from northern central Europe. Barkhuis.
- Lam, A.C.Y., Can Karaca, A., Tyler, R.T. & Nickerson, M.T. (2018). Pea protein isolates: Structure, extraction, and functionality. *Food Reviews International*, 34 (2), 126– 147. https://doi.org/10.1080/87559129.2016.1242135
- Lin, M.J.Y., Humbert, E.S. & Sosulski, F.W. (1974). Certain Functional Properties of Sunflower Meal Products. *Journal of Food Science*, 39 (2), 368–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1974.tb02896.x
- Ljuština, M. & Miki, A. (2010). A Brief Review on the Early Distribution of Pea (Pisum sativum L.) in Europe. 4
- Lu, Z.X., He, J.F., Zhang, Y.C. & Bing, D.J. (2020). Composition, physicochemical properties of pea protein and its application in functional foods. *Critical Reviews* in Food Science and Nutrition, 60 (15), 2593–2605. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2019.1651248
- Maninder, K., Sandhu, K.S. & Singh, N. (2007). Comparative study of the functional, thermal and pasting properties of flours from different field pea (Pisum sativum L.) and pigeon pea (Cajanus cajan L.) varieties. *Food Chemistry*, 104 (1), 259– 267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.11.037
- Martinez, M.M. & Boukid, F. (2021). Future-Proofing Dietary Pea Starch. ACS Food Science & Technology, 1 (8), 1371–1372. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsfoodscitech.1c00219
- Mohammed, Y.A., Chen, C., Walia, M.K., Torrion, J.A., McVay, K., Lamb, P., Miller, P., Eckhoff, J., Miller, J. & Khan, Q. (2018). Dry pea (Pisum sativum L.) protein, starch, and ash concentrations as affected by variety and environment. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 98 (5), 1188–1198. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjps-2017-0338
- Möller, A.C., Li, J., van der Goot, A.J. & van der Padt, A. (2022). A water-only process to fractionate yellow peas into its constituents. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 75, 102894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2021.102894
- Möller, A.C., van der Padt, A. & van der Goot, A.J. (2021a). Abrasive milling: A method to pre-fractionate testa and embryonic axis from yellow pea. *LWT*, 151, 112087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.112087
- Möller, A.C., van der Padt, A. & van der Goot, A.J. (2021b). From raw material to mildly refined ingredient Linking structure to composition to understand fractionation processes. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 291, 110321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2020.110321
- Mondor, M. (2020). Pea. In: Manickavasagan, A. & Thirunathan, P. (eds.) *Pulses: Processing and Product Development*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 245–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41376-7_14
- Nikolopoulou, D., Grigorakis, K., Stasini, M., Alexis, M.N. & Iliadis, K. (2007). Differences in chemical composition of field pea (Pisum sativum) varieties: Effects of cultivation area and year. *Food Chemistry*, 103 (3), 847–852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.09.035
- Pernollet, J.-C. (1978). Protein bodies of seeds: Ultrastructure, biochemistry, biosynthesis and degradation. *Phytochemistry*, 17 (9), 1473–1480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)94623-5
- Ratnayake, W.S., Hoover, R., Shahidi, F., Perera, C. & Jane, J. (2001). Composition, molecular structure, and physicochemical properties of starches from four field pea (Pisum sativum L.) varieties. *Food Chemistry*, 74 (2), 189–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(01)00124-8

- Ratnayake, W.S., Hoover, R. & Warkentin, T. (2002). Pea Starch: Composition, Structure and Properties — A Review. *Starch - Stärke*, 54 (6), 217–234. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-379X(200206)54:6<217::AID-STAR217>3.0.CO;2-R
- Santos, C.S., Carbas, B., Castanho, A., Vasconcelos, M.W., Vaz Patto, M.C., Domoney, C. & Brites, C. (2019). Variation in Pea (Pisum sativum L.) Seed Quality Traits Defined by Physicochemical Functional Properties. *Foods*, 8 (11), 570. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods8110570
- Shevkani, K., Kaur, M. & Singh, N. (2021). Composition, pasting, functional, and microstructural properties of flours from different split dehulled pulses (dhals). *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 45 (6), e15485. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.15485
- Singh, K.K. & Goswami, T.K. (1996). Physical Properties of Cumin Seed. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research*, 64 (2), 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1006/jaer.1996.0049
- Singh, N., Kaur, N., Rana, J.C. & Sharma, S.K. (2010). Diversity in seed and flour properties in field pea (Pisum sativum) germplasm. *Food Chemistry*, 122 (3), 518– 525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.02.064
- Sreerama, Y.N., Sashikala, V.B., Pratape, V.M. & Singh, V. (2012). Nutrients and antinutrients in cowpea and horse gram flours in comparison to chickpea flour: Evaluation of their flour functionality. *Food Chemistry*, 131 (2), 462–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.09.008
- Stolárik, T., Henselová, M., Martinka, M., Novák, O., Zahoranová, A. & Černák, M. (2015). Effect of Low-Temperature Plasma on the Structure of Seeds, Growth and Metabolism of Endogenous Phytohormones in Pea (Pisum sativum L.). *Plasma Chemistry and Plasma Processing*, 35 (4), 659–676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11090-015-9627-8
- Swedish Board of Agriculture (2021a). *Hektar- och totalskörd efter År, Län, Tabelluppgift, Variabel och Gröda.* https://statistik.sjv.se/PXWeb/pxweb/sv/Jordbruksverkets%20statistikdatabas/Jor dbruksverkets%20statistikdatabas__Skordar/JO0601J01.px/table/tableViewLayo ut1/ [2022-03-01]
- Swedish Board of Agriculture (2021b). *Jordbruksmarkens användning 2021. Preliminär statistik.* https://jordbruksverket.se/om-jordbruksverket/jordbruksverketsofficiella-statistik/jordbruksverkets-statistikrapporter/statistik/2021-05-20jordbruksmarkens-anvandning-2021.-preliminar-statistik [2022-03-01]
- Tanno, K. & Willcox, G. (2006). The origins of cultivation of Cicer arietinum L. and Vicia faba L.: early finds from Tell el-Kerkh, north-west Syria, late 10th millennium b.p. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 15 (3), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-005-0027-5
- Tao, A., Afshar, R.K., Huang, J., Mohammed, Y.A., Espe, M. & Chen, C. (2017). Variation in Yield, Starch, and Protein of Dry Pea Grown Across Montana. Agronomy Journal, 109 (4), 1491–1501. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2016.07.0401
- Yalçın, İ., Özarslan, C. & Akbaş, T. (2007). Physical properties of pea (Pisum sativum) seed. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 79 (2), 731–735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2006.02.039
- Young, G., Bourré, L., Frohlich, P., Borsuk, Y., Sarkar, A., Sopiwnyk, E., Jones, S., Dyck,
 A. & Malcolmson, L. (2020). Effect of roasting as a premilling treatment on the functional and bread baking properties of whole yellow pea flour. *Cereal Chemistry*, 97 (2), 183–195. https://doi.org/10.1002/cche.10233
- Zohary, D. & Hopf, M. (1973). Domestication of Pulses in the Old World. *Science*, 182 (4115), 887–894. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.182.4115.887
- Åman, P., Westerlund, E., Theander, O. (1994). Determination of starch using a thermostable α-amylase. *Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry*, John Wiley & Sons, New York (1994), 111-115

Popular science summary

In Sweden, when you hear the words "yellow peas", most people generally think of pea soup Thursdays, which, eaten along with pork and mustard, is probably something they're extremely fond of or find impossible to eat. But, did you know that peas are actually used for so much more? For example, as food for animals, protein concentrates extracted and used in plant-based meat alternatives as well as dietary fibre components incorporated in breads.

When considering the multiple uses for pea components it becomes clear that peas are very valuable for the food industry. However, there are major variations in the nutritional content of peas. Also, the size and what you can produce from the peas varies. Depending on where they are grown, which variety of peas we are discussing and on the climate of the year the peas are grown, the content of the peas can vary greatly. Therefore, this project aimed at giving an overview of some of the factors influencing the value of peas as a food component. Four different peas grown in three different years were analysed.

The results from the study showed variation in several factors such as average size of the seeds, which could be very important when deciding on how to process the peas in the future. There were variations based on the variety of pea as well as variations based on which year the pea was grown. For example, the peas that were grown in the very hot and dry year of 2018, were smaller compared to the years of 2019 and 2020. This could have implications for processing steps such as dehulling of the peas.

The take home message from this study is that variety and climatic conditions can affect the pea components in varying amounts. To produce pea components with the best properties and nutritional content, there is a need for knowledge of how the specific pea variety used behaves under the cultivation conditions.

Appendix 1 – SEM-images





Appendix 2 – Pasting curves







Appendix 3 – Parameters analysed

Parameter	Description	Unit	Analysis
ara	Arabinose residues	%	Dietary fibre
araR	Relative arabinose	%	Dietary fibre
Bot	Fraction <50µm	%	Particle size
BulkDensity	Bulk density of pea seeds	g/cm ³	Bulk density
F1	Fraction >1mm	%	Particle size
F150	Fraction <250µm	%	Particle size
F250	Fraction <600µm	%	Particle size
F50	Fraction <150µm	%	Particle size
F600	Fraction <1mm	%	Particle size
gal	Galactose residues	%	Dietary fibre
galR	Relative galactose	%	Dietary fibre
glc	Glucose residues	%	Dietary fibre
glcR	Relative glucose	%	Dietary fibre
HGW	100 grain weight	g	100 grain weight
KL	Klason Ligning	%	Dietary fibre
Length	Length of pea seed	mm	Average size
man	Mannose residues	%	Dietary fibre
manR	Relative mannose	%	Dietary fibre
OAC	Oil absorption capacity	g/g flour	OAC
Porosity	Porosity of pea seeds	%	Porosity
rha	Rhamnose residues	%	Dietary fibre
rhaR	Relative rhamnose	%	Dietary fibre
RVABreak	Breakdown of WPF	RVU	RVA
RVAFinal	Final viscosity of WPF	RVU	RVA
RVAPastingT	Pasting temperature of WPF	°C	RVA
RVAPeak	Peak Viscosity of WPF	RVU	RVA
RVAPtime	Pasting time of WPF	min	RVA
RVASetback	Setback of WPF	RVU	RVA
RVATrough	Holding Strength of WPF	RVU	RVA
Sphericity	Sphericity of pea seed		Average size
Starch	Starch content	%	Starch

Parameter	Description	Unit	Analysis
Thickness	Thickness of pea seed	mm	Average size
TotDF	Total dietary fibre content	%	Dietary fibre
TrueDensity	True density of pea seeds	g/cm ³	True density
UA	Uronic acids	%	Dietary fibre
UAR	Relative uronic acids	%	Dietary fibre
Volume	Volume of pea seed	μl	Average size
WAC	Water absorption capacity	g/g flour	WAC
Width	Width of pea seed	mm	Average size
xyl	Xylose residues	%	Dietary fibre
xylR	Relative xylose	%	Dietary fibre

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.